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This book is the third in the series published by the Mourholme Local
History Society, describing life in the parish of Warton, and in the
townships which were once part of that parish.

The previous book, about the first half of the nineteenth century, covered
the beginnings of the evolution of the townships into separate parishes,
and during the second half of the century the separation was completed.
Owing to industrialization and the growth of the railway network,
Carnforth expanded rapidly, and become dominant. The rise in tourism,
and an increasing trend towards country living for those who could afford
it, had a similar impact on Silverdale. The other townships, including
Warton, became relatively less significant economically.

During the period described in this book, many of the institutions and
systems that we recognise today were evolving. There was both greater
centralisation and more detailed record keeping in local and centra]
government, and a wider dissemination of information. All of this helped
the contributors to this book to put together what they hope is 3
comprehensive and accurate portrait of the area between 1850 and 1900,
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To John Marshall
1919 — 2008

Historian, teacher, pioneer thinker and good friend to the
Mourholme Local History Society

John Marshall’s contributions to the study of regional history
have been outstanding. In the Mourholme Society we have also a
particular reason to feel his loss. He was for more than two decades our
President and also he made time in his busy life to give us long-lasting
help in the task of trying to write a running history of our area, using the
valuable research that has been undertaken over the years by members of
the Society and others; research that might otherwise have languished
unseen in our archives. John was too good a teacher to write the book for
us; he preferred the more time-consuming task of helping us to write it
for ourselves. That was a fortunate decision, for not only did it enable
the Society to write, under his guidance, a book that dealt with our area
in the seventeenth century, but, when ill-health gradually reduced his
direct support, the Society still felt able to continue its work. It is
therefore most fitting that this third volume should be gratefully
dedicated to his memory.
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Money, Weights and Measures

No attempt has been made in this book to give estimates of the modern
equivalents of the nineteenth century prices quoted. It was felt that the
changes in prices and wages had been too great, and simple change into
modern currency would be misleading.

Money
The coinage was changed in 1971, and for those too young to remember
the old values the table below can be used for reference.

12 pence (d) = 1 shilling (s)
20 shillings (s) = 1 pound (£)
1 guinea = £1-1s

The table below gives modern equivalents of nineteenth century
measurements of weight, length and area.

Weight

1 pound (Ib) = 0.45 kilograms

141bs = 1 stone (6.35 kilograms)
1 ton = 1.02 tonnes

Length

1 foot = 0.30 metres

1 yard = 0.91 metres

1 mile = 1.61 kilometres

Area

1 rood (_acre) = 40 rods

1 statute acre 0.40 hectares
1.4 statute acres = 1 customary acre



Prologue

Since last we met what changes vast

Have from our labours come;

For Carnforth, with her busy hive,
Increases day by day;

She bears “Excelsior” on her flag,

And works her onward way.

Our village, that was once so small,

Is verging to a town; our staple ware, the iron trade,
Gains more and more renown.

New steelworks, too, have now arisen,

And gasworks, too, as well,

With handsome church to crown the whole,
And cast its holy spell.

* * * * * * * * * *

Since last we met a Templar Lodge,
To which we wish success,

Has started on its cruise of good,
And bravely does progress.

Our Band of Hope is also strong,
Increasing day by day;

Whilst drums and fifes re-echo forth,
As sweetly do they play.

* * * * * * * * * *

Our chapel debt is now paid off,
Thanks to our many friends;

With liberal hands and generous hearts,
Their kindness knows no end.

Written by Mr. Dibb of London specially for the Carnforth Wesleyan
Sunday School tea meeting in January 1872.

(The Lancaster Guardian, 6" January 1872).
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Introduction

LETTER TO THE READER

This book is an account of late Victorian years in a small area, about
sixteen square miles in all, in north Lancashire; an area which contains to-
day one small town, Carnforth, and six villages — Borwick, Priest Hutton,
Silverdale, Warton, Yealand Conyers and Yealand Redmayne. It is
awkward that the area has no name of its own today. Once it was the parlsh
of Warton and was so called in the previous two volumes of this history."

2 During Queen Victoria’s long reign the large old parish was split into four
as some of the growing villages (or townships to use the old northern name
for the villages that made up a large parish) built churches and were given
status as parishes in their own right. Strictly speaking, Warton parish
should now only be used for the smaller parish that centres on the village of
Warton. Here was a problem for the writers of this third volume. We really
could not write the-area-that-was-once-the-old-parish-of-Warton every
time. A compromise was reached, unsatisfactory as compromises usually
are. Warton and Warton parish are still used as an incorrect but handy name
for the whole area, but where only the village of Warton is meant it is either
called Warton township or is referred to by its then formal title of
Warton—with-Lindeth. (Fortunately we did not have to face up to the
problem that Warton-with-Lindeth ceased to exist in the twentleth century
when Lindeth was handed over to the township of Silverdale. %)

The book has no one author, nor even one editor. The chapters were
each written by one or more of a group of people, who live in the area, were
all interested in its history, but each had his or her own specialised interest
in some part of that history. We met frequently as a co-ordinating editorial
group. We hoped, in this way, to harness the enthusiasm and detailed
knowledge of non-professional local historians into the production of a book
that would be reasonably comprehensive and yet have plenty of the details
of people and places that make the interest of a local history. There was an
obvious danger in the method. If there was some aspect of the history of the
area in which none of the group was particularly interested, then that aspect
was likely to receive scant coverage. We hope we have dealt with the
themes of major local importance, but we know there are aspects that we
have either left out or not covered in the detail they perhaps deserve. All
that the members of the group can do is apologise for not tackling subjects

\Y%



about which they had little new to offer. Readers after all, can have the

satisfaction of identifying the gaps and the group as a whole would like to
apologise for any oversights or errata.

The Mourholme Local History Society Book Group:

Jenny Ager, Joan Clarke, John Findlater, Geoffrey Gregory,
Clive Holden, John Jenkinson, Sheila Jones,

Jane Parsons,
Arthur Penn, Neil Stobbs.

! Mourholme Local History Society Book Group, How it Was: A North
Lancashire Parish in the Seventeenth Century (Mourholme Local
History Society, 1998).

2 Mourholme Local History Society Book Group, Warton 1800 — 1850

How a North Lancashire Parish Changed (Mourholme Local History
Society, 2005).

* Mourholme, Warton 1800 — 1850, p.2.
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Chapter One

AGRICULTURE
IN THE SECOND HALF OF THE CENTURY

The Enduring Foundation

At the start of the second half of the nineteenth century
agriculture was still a very important component of the British economy,
but it was not the focus of attention that it had been fifty years earlier
when there had been worries about feeding an increasing population
during hostilities with France. By 1850 the farmers had improved
productivity and brought large areas of previously marginal land into
cultivation. They had also adjusted to the abolition, in the 1840s, of the
Corn Laws which had till then protected them from the competition of
imported grain; they had indeed not just survived, but prospered. Yet the
growth of Britain’s industry was on such an extraordinary scale that it
raised the possibility that Britain could make its living by manufacturing
goods and exporting them in exchange for food grown abroad, so putting
our own agriculture into a subsidiary position.

Cumbria
Cumbria

Scale 0.75 in.-1 Mile
Lancashire

Seven Townships i
Morecambe Bay ips of Warton Parish

The Seven Townships of Warton Parish



In Warton parish the last remaining common land had been
enclosed at the beginning of the century allowing further improved
efficiency in stock rearing.' Over the years some of the peat mosses had
been drained and converted to good arable land (as at Leighton. Moss) or
to reasonable grazing.> The parish remained predominantly agricultural,
for the growth of the little township of Carnforth into a small town only
marginally depleted the parish farmlands. Building in the other
townships was not on a large scale. When, later, a free trade policy led to
the importation of large quantities of cereals and later of meat, the

diversity of the local agriculture gave Warton some resilience in the face
of the crisis.

The Land

In 1836 there was a change in the law concerning the payment of
tithes to the church; thiey were still compulsory, but an attempt was made
at lee}st to simplify and improve their collection. A rent charge was
substlt_uted for the previous complicated system of paying partly in Kind.
The Tithe Commutation Act s only mentioned here because it involved
the measuring and recording of land in every parish to find out who owed

what rent. The survey in Warton parish took place in 1846. The
recorded resylt conveniently gives a detailed picture of the parish land, at
a date very

close to the opening of the second half of the century. A full
copy of thg return for the township of Warton-with-Lindeth is fortunately
;valla.ble In the archives of the Mourholme Local History Society and
TOM 1t has been extracted the information that follows. The returns for

t . : : he
tl;es;) ther tOWnshlpS are not so easily accessible, but there is little reason
Ppose they would show an essentially different pattern.

Size of Holdings in Warton-with-Lindeth 1846

In, the Tithe Returns there were records of 110 ‘occupiers of
property’ and 99 ‘landlords’, but in various combinations; some were
merely occupiers, some owned the property they occupied, some were
owners but not occupiers. Altogether there are 158 individual names
1dentified within these groupings. It is noticeable that only 34 landlords
held more than 5 acres. The holdings of these 34 ranged between
328.161 and 5.153 acres, with farms of smaller acreage predominating.
Only 9 of the holdings were over 100 acres. These 9 holdings range from
Edward Dawson’s 328161 acres to John Jenkinson’s 100.523 acres. The



pattern of smallholdings was repeated in the other townships. There
were no really big landholders in the parish.
Land Usage

A general view of the division of land throughout the parish into
various types of management is given in Table 1.1.

Table 1.1
TOT AR PA ME PL COP BLD ORC GN PB
Acres | 2732 1065 1007 448 115 46 29 9 5 8
%age 100 39 36.9 16.4 4.2 1.7 1.1 0.3 0.2 0.3

Distribution of types of Land Use in Warton Parish 1846
(in acres)

Legend: TOT =Total, AR=Arable. PA=Pasture. ME=Meadow. PL=Plantation. COP=Coppice. |
BLD = Buildings. ORC= Orchard. GN =Gardens. PB = Roadways. Railways. Canal and Waste. |

Arable, Meadow and Pasture

In Table 1.1 the 1,065 acres of arable contains a small quantity.
about one sixth of the whole of land, described as ‘containing some
element of arable’. The same applies in a lesser degree to meadow and
pasture — reflecting presumably a tendency of the farmers to use odd bits
of land to best purpose. On the other hand a careful distinction is made
between meadow and pasture. Meadow was land under grass from
which a hay crop may be taken, but is also grazed at various seasons.
Pasture, of which there was much more in the parish, was grassland of a
permanent nature, i.e. not often subjected to ploughing and mainly used
for grazing. Altogether just over half of the parish (52%) was under
some sort of grassland and rather over one third (39%) was arable. This
is very different from to-day’s pattern in which arable forms only a very,
very small part of the whole.

Woodland and Coppice
A small amount of land was occupied by orchards, gardens and

buildings; 7.61 acres was taken by the railway and the canal, but the
other main use of the land was for woodland. The 6% of the land of
Warton parish devoted to woodland was unevenly distributed between
the townships. Three of these, Carnforth, Borwick and Priest Hutton.
were very sparsely wooded in the nineteenth century (0 - 3%). The other



four townships were all reasonably well wooded, falling into twWo

pairs.
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In Yealand Redmayne and in Warton-with-Lindeth there was a
gradual decline, from 1846 to 1895, in woodland cover (from 10% down
to 5% in Yealand Redmayne and from 6% down to less than 3% in
Warton). In contrast the townships of Silverdale and Yealand Conyers
both showed a considerable rise in woodland acreage over the same
period, especially in the later years of the century. In Silverdale
woodland cover rose from 10% to 15%, and that of Yealand Conyers
from 11% to 18%. There is no mystery about these differences. The
acreage of plantation and coppice wood is particularly high in Silverdale
and Yealand Conyers, mainly because of planting carried out on the
woodlands estate in the former township, and by the Gillows on the
Leighton Hall estate in the latter township. The planting on the big
estates was to a certain extent to beautify the grounds, but woodland and
coppice had good commercial value.

The Work Force

Analysis of census data shows that the
number of farms in the parish remained
more or less unchanged through the second
half of the century. Considerable changes
had occurred in the first half of the century
through buying and selling of land and
adjustments needed to absorb enclosed
common land and reclaimed peat mosses.
In the second half there seems to have been
much less change. Farm units were
generally convenient to manage, and most
had the mix of arable land and pasture that
was regarded as best for efficient farming.

Farmhand

Though the number of farms may &, : .., b
have remained unchanged the census shows 4} R :
a decline in numbers working on the land. A\ el 1
In Silverdale the total number describing A e ;
themselves as farmers, agricultural labourers 5
or farm servants declined from 51 in 1851 to Y
31 in 1881. In Borwick the number fell /‘7 '
from 39 to 19 over the same period, and in /{ \
Yealand Conyers from 37 to 32. The FramerSowing
5




decline can also be shown as a fall in the number of households whose
head was occupied in agriculture. In 1851 there were 35 households in

Silverdale whose head was working in agriculture, and this declined to
23 in 1881.

Another factor that led to a decline in manpower was a reduction
in arable farming. Warton has always lacked top quality arable land, but,
historically, had made the best use of what was available. Considerable
acreages were ploughed when food shortages were perceived as a
possibility during the war with France at the start of the nineteenth
century. Plough-land had even extended onto the recently enclosed
commons in a few places. Reliable figures for actual acreages of arable
lansl are available from the tithe award schedules of 1846 and from the
agricultural sjtatistics collected by the government from 1866 on. These
show a considerable decline in arable land. For instance in Warton
:‘co"‘;nihlp arable fell from 42% of all farmed land (arable plus grassland)
f‘(’)rm5£ Ofl the smaller total of land farmed in 1880. By 1895 arable
Victoriaoréj Z 21% of the total farmed. The figure for 1901, given in the
towards th lirétg'OHlstor%, suggests a recovery in arable acreage back
figures are dﬁgure. The shift is slight however, and the way the

Aceom aniedecbor ed mak(?s them not strictly comparable. This was
Silverdile . z'ha doubling of the total number of households in
about two-thi r the same period. The effect was that, whereas in 1851
O-thirds of the household heads in Silverdale had been involved
proportion was down to only about one-fifth.
: © were fewer extra households set up) the
Om just over one half to about one quarter. In Yealand
Conyers there was little
. change - the number of
* households with heads
'%4 employed in agriculture
* declining only slightly
"/ from one in three to
about one in four, but
then Yealand Conyers
with its high proportion
of gentry households has
always had its own
character.

in agriculture; in 1881 the
For Bo'rwick (where ther
proportion fell fr




Some of the decline in the numbers working on the land can be
attributed to the introduction of more machinery. Everything still
depended on manpower or horsepower, but newspaper reports of farm

= wwwsenaen” 0 sales show that drills, harrows and rollers were
IMPROVED DISC_PULPERS and 1 i ‘ T neTaLL & on,
s pul an improving arable
With specint arranacment for entting the farming, as indeed CHAFF CUTTERS
st gaece, For Hand Power.

were mowing |
machines, reaping
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winnowing machines.

Turnip cutters, pulpers 82 770 2
and slicers were in ¢x J . 4l
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e 1t Stted with large iy wheel 2
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L 3
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Crops Grown

For information about cereal and vegetable crops in the second half of
the century we are dependent on notices of farm sales. When Know Hill
Lodge Farm in Silverdale and its contents were sold in 1855 there was
200 stone of oats in the barns, plus a stack of oats. There were also 40
loads of potatoes and two tons of carrots.* Probably the potatoes were
for human consumption, but root crops for animal fodder were evidently
commonly grown by this date, as there were also two tons of mangold
wurzels and one and a half acres of swedes and turnips. Turnips and
potatoes were to be sold off when Mr G. C. Jennings’ farm and its
contents were auctioned in 1890.°. Machinery for cultivating turnips is
frequently mentioned in sales.’

The Whinnerah diar;/ gives us a useful insight into farming
practices in Warton in 1892." The Whinnerahs raised cattle, sheep and
horses, and to feed these they grew crops of turnips, mangolds, oats and
barley. Turnips were machine-chopped before being given as fodder
(though sometimes the sheep were folded on to turnips in the ground).
There was also an annual crop of grass seed. The Whinnerahs grew
potatoes; possibly some of these were for feeding to stock, but some were
supplied to the Carnforth Co-op. for human consumption.

7
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Barley Harvest

From 1866 detailed statistics of
crops and livestock were collected by
the Ministry of Agriculture and
Fisheries. The predominant cereal crop
the parish was oats, as it had been for
hundreds of years, with barley

B2 occupying only about half as much
@ land. Wheat was still occupying quite a

large acreage in 1880, but this fell dramatically by the end of the century,
as the impact of North American imports became stronger.

Turnips and swedes were the other large crops. Most of these

market.

1

vegetable crops were probably for
consumption locally and until
Carnforth’s population expanded
the market was limited. There
was no really large manufacturing
town close by to provide a ready

Swedes .

It was different
in the areas around the
new industrial towns of
south Lancashire where
intensive farming on
market-gardening scale
was very profitable for
those farmers who had
land within carting
distance. Not only did
these farms carry their
produce in abundance
into the towns, but they

:i)si? rteoceé\r/z‘c)iv f;gm 1Ehem the wherewithal, that is stable manure and night
maI;ures restor:;i tc;}av;; crops. The very liberal application of these
e e fertility that'was depleted by such intensive
‘ pping. The system was once succinctly summarised by one farmer —
We cart all off and we cart all on’. In Warton the same system was

8



evidently practised on a small scale, since the Whinnerah diary records
the use of night soil from Millhead to fertilize local farmland.

Livestock

"Duke of Northumberland"
Typical Shorthorn of the 1840's

This bull, bred around 1840 by Thomas Bates of Kirkleavington,
near Yarm, Yorkshire, (now in Teeside) was one of the foundation
animals of all subsequent Shorthorns.

This was the type of Shorthorn bull at the end of the nineteenth
Century.

Shorthorn cattle were the mainstay of the Warton livestock farmer
in the second half of the century. These sturdy animals were well suited
to the local pastures and were suitable for both beef production and for

9



milking. The numbers of cattle in Warton parish rose from 1,950 in 1880
to 2,101 in 1895, a change reflected in the decline in arable land and rise
in grassland over the same period. Numbers of milking cattle show a
large increase in Silverdale and Carnforth, perhaps the result of the
growth in local markets for milk.

Trade in cattle was greatly facilitated by the arrival of the railway
in Carnforth, and one of the most significant developments that promoted
Carnforth’s prosperity (and which tied the town to its hinterland) was the
establishment of a cattle market and cattle fair. In 1869 the Lancaster
Guardian carried an article on Carnforth’s proposed cattle market, which
was, it was said, to be in the backyard and field behind the Queen’s Hotel
in Market Street.® The first sales were to take place the next week, and
the auctioneer would be C. Stephenson (presumably the Christopher

Stephenson of Carnforth who appears in the 1891 census as a seventy
year old auctioneer). Six weeks after the market opened it was reported
that the fortnightly cattle sales had had good attendance. There had been
good sales of fat stock and sheep - about 30 head of fat and other stock
and over 200 fat sheep as well as two yearling colts.” Three months later,
n Febl‘—uary 1870, the Carnforth cattle market was more popular than
ever — “a real benefit to the rising village’ >'° At the Carnforth Half-year
Fair that year 400-500 cattle from Cumberland and Furness fetched good

average prices. _By then these cattle from further afield were being
transported by rail rather than by droving."'

Of course it was in the nature of farming that, shortly after this
upbeat report on the cattle fair, herds were hit by disease. At Warton
Robert Clark had 16 cattle infected with foot-and-mouth disease; Michael
Benson had 5; Thomas Wilcock 15. There were other cases elsewhere,
but 1t was thought that the disease was waning.'> Then a month later, in
Jl{lYa It was reported that foot-and-mouth disease had reappeared among
milch cows belonging to Michael Benson, cows which had formerly been
reported as recovered. It was thought to have been brought in from
Kendal and Kirkby Lonsdale by a cattle jobber.'* There was further
spread of the disease; lists were reported in the newspapers.14 This was
to be a temporary setback, but a more serious earlier outbreak had been
reported in Cumberland in 1866 when 500 cattle had had to be destroyed
in one week.'"> This was part of an outbreak that had also swept through
the small urban dairies in Manchester and other towns, where cattle were

10



kept, often in very poor conditions, for supplying milk to town dwellers.
Serious though this 1866 outbreak was, it brought benefits to unaffected
rural areas such as Warton that had satisfactory rail connections and
could make good the town supplies lost by the ravages of the disease.'

Certainly Carnforth market continued to prosper in the 1880s. Fat
and store cattle were being sold on Mondays and Wednesdays by Wm. &
Jas. Downham, the proprietors in 1883.'7 In 1886 there was a market
every Monday.'® But though the market-in Carnforth was beneficial in so
many ways to the growing prosperity of the parish, and to Carnforth in
particular, there may have been a negative aspect. Just think for a
moment of the squalor of the town centre as these herds of livestock were
driven to and fro between the station and the Queens Hotel. The roads
would be deep in manure, adding to what was produced by the horse-
drawn traffic of the day. The stench must, at times, have been
overwhelming. Fortunately it was still a time when such things were part
of life and probably someone gathered it up and sold it to a local farmer.

Milk Production
The shorthorn cows kept by Warton farmers produced good milk

yields, and the increasing emphasis on dairying is perhaps shown by the
reference in the 1861 census to dairymaids - one in Carnforth, two in
Yealand Conyers, and three each in Priest Hutton and Warton. In the
1881 census only three were recorded, one each in Carnforth, Borwick
and Priest Hutton. However, too much should not be made of the
changes in these figures; the recording of women’s jobs was always

somewhat erratic and arbitrary (see Chapter 10).

New feedstuffs were explored to sustain this round-the-year
production of milk. At the end of the century winterfeed could be
supplemented by concentrates brought in from outside. There is local
mention of pea-meal and oil-dust (a by-product of the nut oil extraction
process).” Oilcake was well established as another winterfeed. As early
as 1854 appropriate machinery to deal with oil cake was available, such
as the ‘oilcake breakers’ advertised in the Lancaster Gazette *

There was a new market for milk in the industrial towns and
Carnforth provided an outlet for some sales - an accident to a trap
delivering milk in Carnforth confirms that the trade existed by 1894.%!

11



The larger markets in towns in the south of Lancashire became important
when milk could be sent by rail. James Erving, a businessman from
Rochdale who had settled at Thwaite Gate in Carnforth in 1850 kept a
notebook in which he recorded local matters which chanced to catch his
attention. In 1864 he mentioned that milk was being sent from Carnforth
to Liverpool and that dealers were offering 7d a gallon for milk.>

Fletcher quotes milk prices for various towns in Lancashire,
quoting a variety of sources and covering the period 1870-1897.** The
prices range from 6d a gallon during the summers of 1871, 1872 to 10d a
gallon in 1894 in Blackpool. The data, although too sparse for any
convincing generalisation, do suggest a consistent pattern of marginal

price increases, with a penny or two being added to the price in the
winter months.

Fletcher includes figures averaging 8d a gallon for sales ‘near
Lan-cast.er’ in both 1876 and 1886, somewhat higher than those quoted by
Erving in 1864 - though confusingly Erving also quotes a price of 2_d
per quart ‘at 'the Station’, which would be 10d per gallon. He was
perhaps referring to the difference between what the producer received
and what the buyer paid. Erving was writing for his own interest and did
not have to explain his meaning to himself.

Towns required milk all year round so, as has been said, farmers
had to keep good cattle and feed them well all year round instead of
allowing them to go dry in winter in the old way. Town milk came partly
from cows kePt within the city and partly from the surrounding
cpuntrymde. Either way milk tended to be of very poor quality, for the
city cows were often kept in appalling conditions and country milk
inevitably deteriorated on the slow journey to town.?* In 1864 a London
dairyman galled George Barham began what he called the Express
Country Milk quply, the forerunner of the Express Dairies, to bring
milk into the capltgl by railway. The use of railway-hauled country milk
became common in all British cities and larger towns, but much milk
continued, throughout the nineteenth century, to come fr,om stall-fed city
cows. Not that milk produced in the country, including the Warton area,
was necessarily very satisfactory. In 1898 the Medical Officer of Health
for the rural district reported that ‘the cattle of this neighbourhood are
highly tuberculous ...” and in 1901 reported that regulations for dairies
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were a dead letter since ‘no attempt [is] made to ensure the
wholesomeness and cleanliness of the milk or the good health of the
cattle’ ® Nevertheless Warton parish, like the rest of the countryside,

continued to find buyers for its milk.

Sheep and Horses

Sheep continued to form an important part of the Warton
Farmer’s livestock. The numbers of sheep kept in the parish remained
more or less constant at over 3,200 between 1880 and 1895. With lambs
added, the numbers approached 6,000. Once Carnforth market had been
set up they could be traded there, like the cattle. We have little
information concerning sheep breeds, and it is likely that these varied
greatly. The local Silverdale and Warton Crag breeds apparently
continued to be kept. At the 1891 Burton and Milnthorpe Agricultural
Show three ewes of the Horned Crag variety took second prize, as did
three gimmer lambs of the same breed for Mrs. Hindson of Carnforth.?
Leicesters were popular and purebred Leicester flocks were on sale in
Carnforth in 1860 and 1862.27 The annual sheep washing on the shore at
Know Hill in Silverdale - evidently an old tradition — was reported. In
1894 six washers were reported to have washed 150 sheep.”® In 1885 the
Rural Sanitary Inspector, Mr. Jowett, reported that sheep washing had
polluted a stream at Tewitfield that was used as a water supply for 10
houses.?’ As no action was taken it appears that environmental concerns
were not always seriously regarded. The imports of frozen lamb, which
began in the last decades of the century, inevitably affected prices, a
matter discussed below when the whole question of a depression in farm

prices is considered.

Farm horses numbered just over 400 in the period 1880-1895.
They were generally not very large, but towards the end of the century
larger carthorses appeared in the parish. The sale of Mr. Jennings’ stock
in Carnforth included ‘One Bay Cart Mare 16 hands’ *° In the 1890s the
Whinnerahs of Warton Hall kept and bred both light and heavy horses.*'
Their shire horses were famous, and the stallions were sent round farms
in the area to service mares. The Whinnerahs also kept lighter,
thoroughbred horses, and thoroughbred stallions were also sent round the
area. Such a stallion could have been used on heavy-horse mares to
produce a hunter type foal, or on hunter mares to produce a light, faster
hunter. The price of horses was less likely to be affected by increasing
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imports, so that diversifying into horse-breeding presumably had
advantages. There was a huge market for horses. They were the source
of nearly all motive power on the farm, whether for hauling machinery
and carts or for driving fixed machinery by means of a horse-gin. (An
example of such a horse-gin can still be found behind one of the barns at

Waterslack in Silverdale.)

Farming Methods

Some reports prepared at the mid-century by agricultural experts
were critical of Lancashire farming because the writers considered that
the Norfolk system of crop rotation was too often not being correctly
followed. The Norfolk system, with its four-course crop rotation, was
designed to set up a closed system of arable and pastoral farming, each
part supplying essentials to the other. Grazing livestock would produce
manure, which was used to fertilise the arable land, so producing better
crops. The higher crop yield allowed some to be fed back to the
livestock, and some to be taken off the farm to be sold for profit. Any
surplus animals could be sold off for further profit. The whole system
was designed to put production onto a higher level. Achievement of high
farming was to be the aim of all progressive farmers. Other experts
thought high farming was not necessarily well suited to all areas and that
local conditions dictated that there should be major differences.
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In Lancashire, and especially in the area
in which Warton lay, high rainfall and suitable
soil meant that grass grew extremely well, and
could provide most of the fodder needed for the
livestock, in the form of grass or hay, so that
only a relatively small supplement of cereals
was needed. The arable land in Warton was not
of the best, and the high yields envisaged by the
Norfolk system were always going to be
difficult to achieve. The only mention of high
farming in Warton appears to be in an
advertisement for the sale of Brackenthwaite
Farm in Yealand Redmayne after the owner, Mr. Waithman, a prominent
local industrialist, was declared bankrupt in 1853. Brackenthwaite was
described in the advertisement as a 300-acre estate with farm buildings of
modern and improved construction. There was a steam engine for
threshing and other purposes and it was all said to be adapted for the
system of high farming. While the grazing land at Brackenthwaite could
have been described as good, the arable, as everywhere in the parish,
would not have been of high quality; and the whole farm was probably
far removed from anything envisaged by the full Norfolk system.

Haymaker

How far crop rotations were followed in Warton in the second
half of the century is difficult to determine. There are a few notes made
for one of the Dawson farms.’> The notes refer to an 1854 rotation,
which was quite elaborate - seven different crops were grown, including
barley, clover, wheat and beans. An 1881 directory, under the general
heading of Warton Parish, said “7There are many skilful farmers in this

part of the county’ and
added that ‘improved
agricultural implements
and thrashing machines are
in general use in all large
Jarms’. The entry goes on
to list expected yields of
corn, oats, beans and swede
turnips, implying that all
these would have been

Pr

Horse Drawn Binder
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grown> Itis likely that most farmers followed habit and custom even
though still more complicated crop rotations were sometimes being used
elsewhere - rotations which included oats, barley, wheat, turnips, clover
and under-sowing with a mixture of white clover, trefoil, cow-grass, rib-
grass, rough cocksfoot and timothy grass.

Good farming practice was encouraged by agricultural shows and
ploughing matches, the latter sometimes between teams invited by the
new owner or tenant, which made the work lighter. It was reported, for
example, that 17 ploughing teams competed for James Shaw of Thwaite
Farm in Carnforth from cockcrow to four in the afternoon.

What a Ploughing Match May Have Looked Like

The Warton Ploughing Association remained important at the end
of the century and local worthies — sometimes respected farmers like Mr.
E. Whinnerah, but also men outstanding in other fields like Mr. Barton,
the manager of the Iron Works - seem to have been pleased to associate
themselves with agriculture.>* Mr. Barton, although his background was
purely in engineering, seems to have liked to take the part of a country
gentleman. In 1890 he offered a prize of 10 guineas for the best mare at
the Lancaster Agricultural Society show” and his obituary notice added,
after recounting his achievements in engineering and public life, that he
was ‘an excellent judge of all kinds of stock’
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The same seems to have been true of a good many of the business
people who made their homes in the parish. Mr. Gillow of Leighton
Hall, the largest landowner in the parish, though his money had come
from the manufacture of high quality furniture, was President of the
Burton in Kendal Agricultural Society in 1854.>’

Fairs and shows were an important part of the agricultural year.
Lancaster had its fairs and its cheese fairs. They were so popular that
they seriously reduced school attendance while they lasted as the
headmaster of Yealand Friends’ School resignedly noted.”® Warton
farmers were strongly represented at these shows and well-known local
names turn up among the prizewinners. The newspapers, knowing their
readers, devoted considerable space to every detail of these shows. More
specialist shows also took place - such as the Silverdale poultry and
pigeon show, and these are dealt with in more detail later in the book
(Chapter 11). Machinery and implements were also featured at the main
agricultural shows.

Feeding the Land

The introduction of quantities of manure and fertilizer from
outside the farm changed the farming systems. It was no longer
necessary to have a closed cycle of manure, crops and livestock
production. It was now possible to bring in fertilizers from outside, even
from far overseas. The scattered references to fertilizer in press reports
indicate that there was a steadily rising consumption of various products.
Even before the mid-century there had been large imports into Lancaster
of guano, and the larger slaughterhouses had been advertising the waste

sweepings and droppings of their sheds as ‘abattoir guano’.>

The obituary of John Frederick Watson of Craglands, Warton,
who died in 1903, noted that he carried on a successful business as wool-
merchant and manufacturer of sheep dips and bone manures.*’ In 1887
the Lancaster Guardian reported that G. Hadfield & Co., Liverpool
manure manufacturers, gave a dinner in Carnforth to 50 farmer customers
from the area.’’ The farming diary of the Whinnerahs of Warton Hall
Farm for 1892 tells us a good deal about manuring at the end of the
century. The Whinnerahs were not only livestock farmers, but also grew
fodder crops such as turnips. Naturally their main supply of manure
came from the cattle, sheep and horses that they kept. Manure was

17



spread mainly in the months November to January, and meadow and
pastureland were treated with manure and fertilizer as well as the arable.
A diary entry in May refers to ‘zank’ being put on mangolds. This is
presumed to be liquid manure and urine collected from the cattle
standings and then transferred to a mobile tank to be carted out to the
fields. References to ‘sowing manure’ suggest that some artificial
fertilizer in granular or powder form may have been used. Chemical
fertilizers began to be produced in the 1840s, but were not widely used in
the nineteenth century.* A local directory carries the comment in 1831

that crops of turnips yielding 26-30 tons per acre were usually manured

with 15 tons of farmyard manure and 2 cwt. of guano and that old
pasturelands were limed.**

Market Prices

Ijocal markets played an important part in the lives of the
population generally. Meat products, grain and vegetables could be
purchased at rparkets held weekly in the neighbouring villages and
towns. The prices offered at nearby Kendal were reported regularly in
The erst?norland Gazette and The Kendal Advertiser and are used here
as an indicator of the cost of basic foodstuffs at that time. In the chart
below (figure 1.1) plots are shown of the annual market prices of oatmeal
(pence per stone) and mutton (pence per 1b.). These are averages taken
over the calendar year of weekly prices; where a range of weekly prices

was quoted, the mid-point of the range was used.

The price of oatmeal showed no evidence of seasonal effects —
where increases occurred, they generally persisted for several months.
Mutton also was very stable in price; it was not unusual for the price to
remain the same throughout the year. Other commodities such as eggs,
potatoes, butter and lamb (not illustrated here) showed marked seasonal
effects, being s1gn1ﬁcantly nore expensive in the winter months. Mutton
and beef were consistently at the same price, with veal — when available
— generally cheaper than either. On the other hand lamb, also when
available, tended to be more expensive than beef, mutton or v’eal.

To modern eyes the remarkable feature of the chart is the low
level of inflation in these prices. Over the 50 years, the price of oatmeal
increased by 6.2%, and that of mutton by 21.3%. Moreover both
commodities were considerably more expensive in the middle of the half-
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century than they were at its end, perhaps a reflection of the agricultural
depression and the poor growing seasons at that time. To compare prices
with local wages and with the economic position nationally, plots have
been shown of half-yearly hiring rates for best men at the Whitsuntide
Hirings* and of the Consumer Price Index published by =~ O’Donoghue,
Goulding and Allen.* This index is based on an index of 100 in 1974
(the index value quoted for 2003 is 715.2). It should be treated as a
rough guide, since purchasing patterns have changed considerably since
the latter half of the nineteenth century.

Figure 1.1

0 ——
1850 1855 1860 1865 1870 1875 1880 1885 1890 1895 1800

~®- Comp Price Index = Hiring Rates (£)
—+= Qatmeal (d/stone) —*— Mutton (d/Ib)

Prices, Wages and the Cost of Living 1850 — 1900

(Note that the units on the vertical scale refer to pounds sterling, (old) pence or index
percentages as appropriate to the measure plotted.)

Was There an Agricultural Depression in Warton?

The phrase the Great Depression fairly describes the usual view
taken of the condition of agriculture during the last quarter of the
nineteenth century. The ruin of her farmers, it was held, was the price
paid by Britain for the benefits she obtamed and conferred on the rest of
the world, as the great free trading nation.*® One historian, describing the
1870s, used the dramatic phrase ‘British agriculture ... was thrown
overboard in the storm like an unwanted cargo’.*’ Yet it is more and
more believed that depression did not press equally heavily on all farmers
everywhere. According to one historian, ‘... north of the Humber there
was not so much wreckage as further south’ and went on to describe
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Lancashire as in the ‘half-light’, nearly as fortunate as Cheshire, long
famous for its dairies, which ‘suffered less than any county’.*® Yet the

view remains that depression was universal even if some areas were
slightly luckier and suffered less than the majority; areas for example,
like the area north of Lancaster described by one recent writer as ‘... a
narrow coastal strip, partly of limestone, where oats, roots, and seeds
were grown for consumption on the farm by sheep and cattle ... mainly of
the dairy type’.* In this area lies Warton parish.

In 1866 a decision was taken to collect agricultural statistics.
Comparisons are made between data collected from the original parish
summaries in the possession of the Ministry of Agriculture quoted by
Fletcher in his 1961 paper.”® Fletcher used the years 1870, 1874 and
1875 arguing that the earlier unreliable years were to be avoided, and that
the intervening years (1871, 1872 and 1873) were unavailable. He
compared these with averages of the years 1894-98 inclusive.
Extractions from his tables are shown in tables 1.2 and 1.3. North
Lancashire in these tables is believed to refer to the county (as it was in
the late nineteenth century) north of the River Ribble. Also over this
period the area of agricultural land in the county had increased from
approximately 748 to 823 thousand acres, the former figure being in
some doubt owing to changes in the unit of measurement of acreage.

Some of the differences in farming practices between North

Lancashire and England generally are shown statistically in the following
tables.

Table 1.2
Years Total Arable Corn (Oats) Potatoes
II:; c])]r;l; England ]i\; (;22 England E; (::: England
A Y 57 137 | 32(6) 2 I
ol IS 47 107 | 230 3 1

Crops per 100 Acres of Crops and Grass
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Table 1.3

Yecars (m:l:l?tct:news) Sheep Pigs
Lancs | 800 [ ey | Eoglend |l | PR

AR EEEN R

s | a9 | | 0 | o G

Stock per 100 Acres of Crops and Grass

From these it can be seen that in the 1870s, the decade usually
seen as the beginning of a period of depression, North Lancashire had
considerably less of its farm land as arable than the average for England
and also a smaller area growing corn. It can also be seen that it had a
slightly greater acreage of both oats and potatoes. By the 1890s, the end
of the period under question, the short fall of arable and corn growing in
North Lancashire was less. The excess of the potato acreage in North
Lancashire had doubled (and, surprisingly the oat acreage had fallen
slightly below that in the rest of England).

Conclusion
Over the 1870s and 1880s, when England as a whole was going

through an agricultural depression, the North Lancashire farming regime
had swung towards livestock, and though its arable acreages had fallen in
true terms, the fall was not as great as in England as a whole. When the
scattered evidence from newspapers and other sources is also collected
together it appears reasonable to say that Warton’s agriculture did
experience a difficult time in the 1870s when the ploughing of huge areas
of North American prairie led to the production of very large volumes of
wheat for export (though it is naturally very difficult to separate this from
any accompanying industrial depression). A similar growth in
production of beef and lamb in the Americas and in New Zealand started
rather later, but that too was to have an effect on prices of meat in
Britain. On the livestock side, Warton farmers may have been able to
cushion their loss by concentrating on improving dairying, with meat
production as an ancillary, so called cow beef.

Nothing could cushion them against the other problem that hit all
British farmers in these years. The weather deteriorated in the 1870s.
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Most of the summers were wet from 1875 onwards, and in 1879 there
was a cold spring followed by an exceptionally wet and cold summer and
autumn. ‘In some places the corn had still not ripened enough for
harvesting even by Christmas 1879.”>' Warton suffered along with the
rest of the country. Direct comments on the situation in Warton are rare,
but there are indications. In 1876 it was reported in the Lancaster
Guardian that Thomas Stephenson of Hagg Farm in Carnforth was
selling cattle, horses and implements because of the decline in farming.>
The next month Nicholas Marsden of Beech House in Priest Hutton was
selling his cattle, horses and sheep, all said to be ‘well bred’.>> The
reason is not given, but in 1879 the Beech House estate itself was for
sale. The 1870s saw many farms sold, though no reasons are usually
given. The sales include Red Bridge farm with 38 acres in 1873, Challon
Hall estate with 139 acres also in 1873, the Row with 16 acres in 1874,
fmd Bradshaw Gate estate together with Hawthorn Bank in 1878, all four
in Sll.verdale. In addition the large Silverdale Hill House estate was for
sale. in 1872, but this was a consequence of the death of the owner,
Christopher Wood. In Carnforth Thomas Jackson, who had inherited
Hall Gowan farm from his father, announced that he would be giving up
farming, and duly sold off stock, implements and the farm itself.>*

There is also evidence that times were hard in the 1880s. In 1886 the
Lancas.ter‘Gazette noted that, in an attempt to prevent the decline in
prosperity in Furness and Cumbria, landowners were giving remission of
rent in the form of lime to improve the fertility of the soil. More
SIgnlﬁpant, perhaps, was the report that Cumberland farmers were
migrating to Warwickshire where good land could be rented at one pound
per %'1cres.5 Many moved, lock, stock and barrel, by special train from
Pennth: Some folk emigrated to North America, New Zealand or

Australia - a trend that had been developing for some time. In 1878 the

Lancaster Guaijdzan carried an advertisement for emigrant farm
labourers wanted in New Zealand. >
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Chapter Two

TRANSPORT
THE RAILWAYS, THE CANAL AND THE ROADS

The Railways
Carnforth Becomes a Junction: The Lancaster & Carlisle Line

The series of maps that appears at various points in this chapter
shows the increasing complexity of the railway lines converging on
Carnforth station from its first beginning as a wayside station on the new
Lancaster & Carlisle line that was opened in 1846. Carnforth was not
planned as a junction; indeed the other northward line from Lancaster,

I 7 the North Western, that
{1 Caz_isie ran across the Pennines to
+ Yorkshire took no heed of

* it, but was routed to the
F east of the then

b unimportant township of
i Carnforth.'
éA&Nﬁor&Tuﬁ T Lecis
p Meanwhile a

€ # ‘ -
cmé‘gi';ﬂw“ by railway system was being
1846 — 7 Nokm Wesrean * developed in Furness, gnd
I RAéLWAY—»; it was by connecting with
Z - LANC: :9 = this system that Carnforth

Ly STER first became a junction.

CANCASTE A MiNeR wgﬁfmhr- The Furness Railway had

ShusciruRe MUY HA A Rl i wirw begun operating in 1846

. . betwee row and

Dalton-in-Furness mainly for the carriage of minerals gtialgy 1854 it had
been extende.d to Ulverston. A separate company, the Ulverstone &
Lancaster Railway completed the link with Carnfc;rth as a single-track
line in 1857 (small, hopeful companies were starting up everywhere in
this expanding railway age). The first consignments on the line when it
was opened for goods on August 10th 1857 were 70 tons of iron ore
southbound and, on the evening return journey, coal from Lord
Balcarres’ colliery near Wigan to Cark for use at Holker Hall. Carriage
of coal from Wigan was expected to be an important function of the new
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railway as it avoided ‘the loss and breakage of loading and unloading
vessels’ previously experienced through journeys by sea or canal *

Growth of Carnforth as a Junction

On September 1%, 1857 the Ulverstone & Lancaster Railway was

To
f& BARROW CARLISLE

h SILVERDALE
x|

ULVERSTONEY
LANCASTER RAILWAY
1857

CARNFORTH

opened for passengers also.
It was not long before the
Furness Railway was
seeking authority to
purchase the line, which it
did in 1862 and then
doubled the track in 1863.

: 7
LonDON & NoRTH £ eeps<” The railway was
WESTERN RAILWAY I Midranp Riy, & able to promise connection
(Lac. secmon) £ (Nw.R) with the arrivals and
Fa » departures of trains from
i P and to all parts of England.
60 f To < T Carnforth, from being a

;/ LLANCASTER ,‘fy LANCAS TS, . .
TWE OPeniwC OF THE ULVERSTONES LancasTer Riv.  simple wayside halt, had

GIVES ACCRSS To BARROW AND WEST CUMBEALAND,

become a junction with rail

links to Carlisle in the north, to Furness and the west and through
Lancaster to the south. In 1859 The Lancaster & Carlisle was leased to
the London & North Western Railway Line and was absorbed by it in

1879.

The Furness & Midland Joint Railway

To BARROW ) ’Ta CARLISLE
W SILVERDALE
Furness Furness § MoLma
RAILWAY :In’l: RAILWAY
(UL R e 1867
,.K
4 ¥
CARNFOR: uf LEEE L
L-%NWR. MR. -

To LANCASTER

1870 £ /;

I3
THE FURNESS & MIDLAND JURT RALWAY PROVIDEY A LINK,
TO YORKSHIRE. THEZ (RO WORKS 15 1 Fuy, BLAST.

In 1867 a short line was opened from
Carnforth east toWennington, which
meant that Carnforth acquired a direct
link with the Midland system to
Leeds. It might be mentioned here
that the through line from Leeds to
Barrow meant another change. Until
it opened, boats to Belfast had sailed
from Morecambe, but the same
vessels, the Roe, Talbot and
Shelburne, now flying the flag of the
Barrow Steam Navigation Company,
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started to sail from Barrow.’ The Midland and the Furness Railways
continued as separate concerns, the Furness operating i.n the Furness
peninsula and the Cumberland coast, while the Midland Railway opera}ted
(eventually) from London through the midlands to Leeds and Carlisle
(with various branches). The link line through Carnforth, the F urness &
Midland Joint Railway, was owned (jointly) by the two companies; the
Furness Railway maintained the buildings and track, but the line was
worked by the Midland Railway, so that engine drivers, firemen etc.
would be Midland Railway employees, as also was the station master.

The Growth of Railway Traffic: Goods, Passengers and Trippers

The rail system thus built up must have helped make Carnforjth
attractive to the entrepreneurs who had opened the Iron Works there in
the 1860s (a major industrial venture described in more detail in the next
chapter) and the Iron Works in turn meant profit to the railways.
Carnforth was able to enter on its period of maximum expansion.

Traffic on all the railway lines grew rapidly. When the Lancaster
& Carlisle Railway was opened in 1846 there were only three passenger
trains in each direction op weekdays, and one on Sundays; by the 1880s
there were no fewer than twelve down and eight up trains calling at
Carnforth on the main Lancaster & Carlisle section of the London &

North Western Railway. In addition there were five local trains to and
from Morecambe.

The Furness & Midland Joint Railway expanded its services
equally rapidly. There were in 1875 only four trains arriving at
Carnfqrth, balanced by four departures, (and on Sundays only two in
each direction), but the number of trains had risen to ten in each direction
by the end of the century. The success of the Ulverstone & Lancaster
Railway is shown by its rising revenues. During the week ending May
27"’, 1859 the total revenue from the line had been £502. In the same

week in 1860 passengers had paid £211, and merchandise brought in
another £502 making £713 in all, a 42% rise in a year.

As well as the regular passenger services the railways were

increasingly offering special services and cheap fares. Some were
offered on a regular basis. By 1859 the Lancaster & Carlisle was issuing
sea-bathing tickets for visitors to Silverdale, and in 1861 there was a
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special train (stopping at Carlisle) for the Whitsun farm hiring fair.*
Other offers were for special excursions. As early as 1851 the Lancaster
Guardian has reported what it called ‘A Pleasure Trip,” when some 140
‘votaries of pleasure’ from Preston came to Carnforth and climbed up
Warton Crag (despite the rain).

Catering for trippers (a word that was just coming into common
usage) was big business and the railways competed with each other to
catch the trade. The Lancaster & Carlisle Railway anticipated the
opening of the new Ulverstone & Lancaster Railway on September 1%,
1857, by advertising the day before, a special from Preston to Ulverston
for a visit to Furness Abbey. The Lancaster & Carlisle Railway
continued to take advantage of the new outlet, one of the Whit excursions
of 1858 being a 19 carriage train from Preston to Silverdale.® Day trips to
Windermere were advertised and special cheap excursions soon rose to
more than a 100 a year. The majority of these were over London &
North Western metals, and were usually for a day, though some tickets
were valid for several days, and could be for destinations as varied as the
south coast or London (for Paris) with no particular object in view other
than travel, or to Liverpool and Manchester for the express purpose of
going to the pantomime,’ or to Birmingham especially for the Onion
Fair.

Carnforth Station

In 1846 a newspaper reporter had related how his train stopped at:
‘the delightful little village of Carnforth ... for the purpose of getting a
Jresh supply of water ... All the party alighted to view the new station
house [with] the greatest approbaztion’.9 The visit was being paid before
even this first of all the station buildings at Carnforth was opened to the

public.

As new lines were opened this small station was no longer
adequate, the first major enlargement coinciding with the arrival of the
Ulverstone and Lancaster Railway. The new Furness & Midland Joint
Railway built its own station, staffed by Midland Railway men, some
distance from the Lancaster & Carlisle station. It opened on June 6",
1867 (even though work on it was said to be still only nearly finished at
the beginning of 1868.) By July 1868 this first station had been closed
and replaced by a second Furness & Midland Joint Railway station,
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7 housed in a wooden building
L F&M,T R. _f‘_ - sited to the west of the point at
R which the Furness and the
C— Furness & Midland Joint
7 Railways had their junction.
? A Dne A problem for the Furness &
;;ﬁ—m;esdqﬂ Midland Joint Railway was
s Lnwk. sher.  how to deliver passengers to
the London & North Western
CARNFORTH station. This could only be
880 done by means of reversal, a
practice that was frowned
upon by the Board of Trade.
Nevertheless this problem was not resolved until 1880, when the
construction of the east curve allowed the closure of the Furness &
Mi(.iland Joint Railway’s station and direct access to the L.N.W.R.
station. The Furness & Midland Joint Railway station building was then
rgmoved to a position near East Junction, where it was used at various
times as a guards’ mess room and by the Signal & Telegraph Department
before eventual demolition in the early 1960’s."

. There could now be a single station complex for all the lines
serving Carnforth and modernisation of the LN.W.R./F.R. station was
g]ready under way. Work had begun on the foundations in April 1878,

ut was slowed down by frost the following winter. Then in February
1879 an iron support collapsed, injuring two workmen.!' More accidents
followed, including one fatal to Joseph Wren, a labourer, who was buried
under anrl ::arth-fall. Nevertheless the new station was opened on
August 2 1889, thoygh before the approach to the L.N.W.R. up side
entrance was quite finished. In the enlarged station the Furness side had
a handsome overall roof, but was handicapped by having only one bi-

directional platform. Not until 1939 was a second platform built for
trains to Barrow.

On the L.N.W.R. side the up platform (for south-bound trains),
which until then had been described as having very little shelter, was
provided with new offices and waiting rooms, and the down platform
buildings were further extended. A subway connected it with both the
down L.N.W.R. platform and the Furness platform.
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Furness Platform (Rathbone Collection)

Before the subway was constructed communication had been by a
foot crossing at the south end, and in 1877 a horse belonging to Mr.
Edward Barton had been killed there. On the down platform, along with
offices, waiting rooms and the refreshment room, was W.H. Smith’s
book stall, a fixture since 1872. Passenger trains ceased to stop at
Carnforth in May 1970, and now only the Furness and 1939 L.M.S.
platforms are in use.

The Midland Railway, only a tenant at the L.N.W.R./F R. station,
was represented by an agent and two porters. A bay (i.e. dead-end)
platform was provided between the Furness platform and Warton Road
for its trains arriving via the new east curve. Attractive features of the
1880 station were the platform canopies, those on the platform shared by
the London & North Western and the Furness Railway having the
companies’ initials in the decorative spandrels.
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Diagram showing the layout of the station

Looking for the 1880 Station

In 1939 alterations were made to the 1880 station which left it
less aesthetically pleasing, but more functionally efficient. Much of the
1880 station can still be seen to-day, including the stone signal-box, built
at the north end of the Furness platform and bearing the Furness Railway
crest. It still presents a notable sight today, though it ceased functioning
as a signal-box when it was replaced by the present Carnforth Station
Junction box in 1903. Other survivals are the abbreviated remains of one
of the 1880 stone roof-supporting columns, which still forms part of the
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station wall next to Warton Road. Unfortunately none of the canopies or
the support columns with their initialled spandrels remains in position;
nor has the clock tower with its stone London & North Western crest that
stood at the south end of the station survived. That tower clock had
replaced an earlier one of 1862, but neither could be seen easily from the
platform and must have been for the benefit of railway servants rather
than the public. Not until December 1895 was the now famous clock
placed near the subway on the island platform from which today the
trains leave for Lancaster.

The Infrastructure

[t goes without saying that such an increasingly important station
had to have sheds, wagon-repair shops, locomotive coaling stages,
sidings, a signalling system etc, etc. Little is known of the first Furness
Railway shed, but the second shed of the late 1860s was one of the
principal depdts (though with limited facilities for locomotive repairs)."
It was closed in 1927 and its stock shared between the other two sheds.
The first Midland shed, a small wooden four-road one (four sets of
Railway lines), was built in 1867 at the junction of the Furness and
Furness & Midland Joint railways. It was soon converted for use as a
wagon repair shop when it was superseded in 1874 by the much larger
red brick shed built some distance away to the east of the present A6
road. This was of standard Midland Railway square roundhouse design,
which meant that the locomotives were housed in a rectangular building
inside which was a 42ft. diameter central turntable with 24 stabling roads
radiating from it. The first London & North Western shed was a two-
road shed of obsolescent design with an allocation, in 1890, of only nine
engines. It lasted for 20 years from 1873. It was then convertefi into a
coaling stage when a successor, with a considerably greater capacity, was
built nearby. The 1893 Ordnance Survey map shows what a very lgrge
area was occupied by the railway complex with its station, sheds, sidings
and marshalling yards. Strategically placed in the centre of it all were the
Iron Works.

The Station Hotel
The building of the new Station Hotel, though not undertaken by

any of the companies themselves was all part of the optimism of the
times about the future of railways. There had been an earlier building,
usually referred to as the Station Inn, almost opposite to the Iron Works
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offices; it was demolished to make way for the 1880 extension of the
Furness Railway side of the station.

The directors of the Carnforth Haematite Iron Company backed
the new development, feeling it would ‘supply a great wani by
businessmen who arrive at the junction loo late for conveyance
forwards’ ** The Iron Works management seem to have had a direct
financial interest in the project; applications for the lease of the new hotel
had to be made to Mr. Edward Barton, the manager. s

Station Masters and Shed Gaffers

Another sign of the importance of its station to Carnforth was the
standing of its senior staff. There were at least eight station masters
employed in the nineteenth century, first by the Lancaster & Carlisle and
then by the London & North Western when it took over. Sometimes only

the dates of their appointments or removal elsewhere is known, but about
others more can be gathered.

Thomas Sproat was station master at Carnforth from at least 1850
to 1855 and may have been the first appointment made. He seems to
have been succeeded by Joseph Monk who was promoted to Whitehaven

}nt181662’ an unhappy move as he and his son died there of fever a year
ater.

The next incumbent, John Farrington Halliwell, is perhaps better
known for his wife’s career than for his own. In 1865 he married the
widowed Elizabeth Carruthers who had been in charge of the refreshment
room at the station ever since it was let by the London & North Western
Railway in 1862. She was a shrewd businesswoman. In 1878 (by which
time John Halliwell must have been dead, for she is again described as a
widow) she bought land near the station and presumably made a
handsome profit when it was developed as the Station Buildings, which
included the Post Office and the Conservative Club. When she died aged
74 in 1896, she is believed to have been still the proprietrix of the station
refreshment room.

Halliwell was succeeded by Isaac Birkett, the Oxenholme station
master who moved to Carnforth in 1866. By 1873 he had left to take a
position with the Carnforth Iron Works Company.'” He was prominent
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in local affairs — churchwarden, leading light in the Loyal Unity Lodge
and in the Carnforth Floral and Horticultural Society, and one of those
responsible for the formation of the Carnforth Water Company.

Mr. Mashiter, who had been his successor at Oxenholme, held
brief tenure at Carnforth, being supplanted by George Steele, a man who
won high praise for his work and received a considerable sum in gold
sovereigns on his retirement in 1880.'® Of William Hunter who followed
nothing is known, but William Haythornthwaite, at Carnforth from 1885
until 1895, is known to have moved on to hold the prestigious post of
station superintendent at Carlisle Citadel from 1897 until 1910. The
station master was appointed by the London & North Western, but the
agent for the Midland was often referred to as station master.

Other important figures in the railway hierarchy were the
locomotive superintendents or shed gaffers. Among these, on the
Furness Railway, was Samuel Affleck who was the Furness railway shed
gaffer for 21 years. He was appointed around 1866 and was still in
service when he died, aged 46, at Keer Villa in 1887." He was
prominent in Carnforth & Warton Oddfellows Lodge and the Floral &
Horticultural Society.

The first Midland gaffer was Francis Henshall Stalvies, son of an
engineer from Bromsgrove; he was also a member of the Oddfellows.*
He became a player for the first Carnforth Cricket Club and then its
president; he was also treasurer of the Carnforth & Railway Cricket Club.
In 1873 he married a local girl, Anne Richard of Priest Hutton, and left

the district shortly after.

The Village Stations . .
There were two other railway stations in Warton parish besides

Carnforth: one at Silverdale and the other at Borwick. Silverdale’s was
one of the original stations on the Ulverstone & Lancaster Railway and
was opened on September 1%, 1857. Though inconveniently distant from
the village the railway, as well as effecting improvement in the mail
service, quickly attracted many excursionists. The villagers did not
consider themselves well catered for, however, either in accommodation
or train services. In 1890 requests were made for a waiting room on the
up platform (the main buildings being on the down side). They also
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wanted a footbridge at the level crossing on the coast road between
Silverdale and Carnforth.”' The first of these requests was granted when
in 1892 a building containing a general waiting room and a ladies’
waiting room (both with fireplaces) was built on the up platform, but the
footbridge over the level crossing did not materialise. The level crossing
remains to this day, though the crossing-keeper’s house has long
vanished. In the same year, 1890, a request was also made for an
improved winter train service for Silverdale.?> The situation was
seemingly still unresolved in 1897 when, so far from providing more
trains, the Furness Railway must have reduced services, for it was being
asked to restore the 2.05 p.m. train from Carnforth. Freight traffic was
provided by the nearby Trowbarrow quarry and there was a small goods
yard behind the up side of the station.

Borwick station was one of three intermediate stations on the link
line between Carnforth and Wennington. It was situated about three-
quarters of a mile east of the village and was opened to passengers in
June 1867, and to goods in February 1868. The
station buildings were on the up side and some
3 railway cottages in a matching style were built

just below the station. By 1880 there were three
more Furness Railway houses in Borwick
(though unfortunately at one stage they were
. deemed to be not in proper sanitary condition as
. the water supply was inadequate in the summer
- months). There was a goods shed near the
Carnforth end of the up line. The passenger
- Service was never frequent. In 1875 there were

Just two up and two down trains per day
(including Sundays), with an extra up train (by
. request only) on weekdays for passengers
wishing to go to London, though the service did improve a little towards
the' end of the century. Much of Borwick’s freight traffic would be in
agricultural produce and in stone from the nearby Wegber quarries.

Working Conditions and Accidents

In December 1898 Lux, who commented on Carnforth affairs for
the Lancaster Guardian wrote that-
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‘... at Carnforth shunting yards the men will soon have a
superstitious dread of performing their required tasks. It is a
most unlucky yard — that is the testimony one constantly hears’®

If he had penned these words 30 years earlier they would have
been equally true. It was an age when accidents were commonplace.
Men were expected to work long shifts. It was the opinion of one local
historian that ‘it was common practice for men to work up to 10 hours
beyond the original 12 and without pay.’** The stress of responsibility
was great and the physical conditions testing. New safety precautions
were indeed constantly being introduced, though many of them were for
the benefit of the public rather than the company servants. Yet still
accidents continued. The selection from the all too frequent reports of
accidents given below throws some light on the fatal combination of
dangerous conditions and human error.

The first accident at Carnforth that has come to notice was in
1847 when Thomas Turner, a Lancaster & Carlisle Railway stoker,
struck his head against a bridge. He had been returning over the carriage
tops to his engine after speaking to the guard (a practice which, though
fraught with danger, was apparently common at the time.).”

In 1863 an inquest was held into the death of Mr. Thompson, a
brakesman, in an accident, which occurred near Silverdale. While he
was uncoupling wagons he was run over by a tender and wagons and
decapitated.?®

In 1867 Robert Hayton, a labourer, while tipping earth at the
junction of the Furness & Midland Joint Railway with the Furness
railway, unhitched his horse and took it onto the main Furness line where
both man and horse were struck by a passing train and killed. His brother
was a witness of the accident.”’ In the same year Mr. Jackson, a
platelayer, was run over at Carnforth by a ballast engine; both his legs
were crushed. He was taken to the Lancaster Dispensary, but died from
blood loss. He left a wife and seven children.”®

In 1871 William Stephenson, a ten year-old Post Office
messenger, while off duty, was in the station where a mineral train was
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being shunted. He was warned by the driver of the dangers, but some
minutes later was found to have been run over.”” He died soon after.

In 1872 Thomas Cooper, signal porter (sic) at the Furness &
Midland Joint Railway station was making an unauthorised visit to his
nearby home for breakfast. He had jumped onto a brake van to get a lift,
and on nearing home jumped off again. When he heard a warning
whistle he appeared to be confused, stepped the wrong way, and was run
down and killed by a train from the Wennington direction. His wife
witnessed the accident.*

In 1875 Mary West of Borwick, aged seven, was on her way to
school at Yealand when she was struck by a goods train at Yealand
crossing and died of her injuries.®’ The coroner recommended that a
footbridge should replace the crossing, but no action was taken by the
railway company.

In 1877 Joseph Gunson, a Furness Railway shunter, got his foot
trapped in the points, and was run over before he could release it.>? He

left a widow and five children, and such sympathy was felt that £50 had
been subscribed within a week.

In 1878 an accident occurred which highlighted the inadequacy of
arrangements for getting medical help for the injured. Isaac Thomas
le}de, a London & North Western watchman, failed to hear the warning
whistle of an engine going to the shed and it ran over him causing severe
injuries to his leg. Medical assistance was called and Mr. Yorke, the

as_s1stant at a local medical practice, applied a tourniquet and advised that
Hinde should be taken to the Lancaster Infirmary. Mr. Beatty, the
Furness & Mld.land station master, used the services of his own line and
arranged for Hinde to be taken in a brake van, via Wennington where it
would be possible to transfer to the Midland Railway to go on to
Lancaster. The journey covered 20 miles and took nearly an hour. On
arrival at the infirmary Hinde was in a state of collapse and died shortly
afterward. At the coroner’s inquest Mr. Beatty stated that he was
unaware that he could have sent Hinde by the London & North Western
line, a much shorter distance. The coroner was extremely critical of what
had been done, and further commented on the lack of a cottage hospital
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at Carnforth to which injured employees of any railway company could
be taken.”?

Only five days after Hinde’s fatal accident Joseph Richardson, a
fireman on the Midland Railway, taking a goods train from Carnforth to
Sheffield, was stopped by signals. Richardson, taking the opportunity to
leave the engine to examine the lamps, stepped into the other track and
was struck by a passenger train. His skull was smashed in. He was sent
to Lancaster Infirmary, one hopes by the shortest route, but on arrival
was described as in a precarious condition.>® It is not known whether he
survived.

In 1882 John Lancaster, a London & North Western breaksman or
shunter was uncoupling wagons during fly-shunting when his head was
crushed between the buffers.®® Until the shunting pole came into use in
1886 shunters had to go between the wagons to couple or uncouple them.
Fly-shunting meant that the driver would set off at some speed, then ease
up to facilitate uncoupling. It was strictly against the rules, though
another driver testified at the inquest that he had done it for eight or ten
years without ever being instructed not to do so. Shunters, it was found
by a Royal Commission on accidents in 1900, had a higher rate of
fatalities than even miners, and were second only to merchant seamen.*®

As if accidents were not bad enough there was always the danger
of deliberate attacks by drunken or violent passengers. Chris Dodd, a
porter, was assaulted by a cattle dealer in 1875; the following year
George Steele, the stationmaster, was attacked; James Thompson, a
Furness Railway porter, was assaulted in 1880; John Owen, night
inspector, suffered the same indignity in 1892, and a London & North
Western porter, William Dodd, was the victim in 1893.

Housing the Railway Workers

There would be little need for extra housing for railwaymen in the
early days, but by the time that the Furness & Midland Joint Railway was
being built in the 1860s the situation had changed. The 1861 census had
shown only 26 Carnforth men employed on the railway. In 1871 there
were some 110 men (it is not always possible to tell from the census
description whether some of those dealing with engines were working on
the railway or in the Iron Works). Over the next few years the numbers
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were set to rise dramatically and the need for new housing was becoming

urgent.

Midland Terrace

Some building for railway staff took place in the late 1860s and
early 1870s mainly in Carnforth (though there were a few houses in the
other villages). Midland Terrace (modern photograph above), a row of
12 houses, and the two semi-detached Keer Villas were built for Midland
employees. The account of other housing given below was largely
gleaned from advertisements and items in local newspapers and cannot
claim to be full. Moreover street names have changed so that it is not
always possible to pinpoint the exact locations of some houses. In
addition to any new building, already existing housing was leased for the
use of railway men. For example, six cottages in Mount Pleasant
(thought to have been near Bolton-le-Sands) were leased to the Furness
Railway for four years before they were sold on in 1873. In 1876 the
Furness Railway took the lease for 21 years of six cottages in High Bank
Close (exact site unknown). In 1880, ten houses in Bank Terrace on the
Over Kellet road were leased to the Midland Railway. Houses known as
Stelfox cottages, the location of which is uncertain, are known to have
been leased to the Furness Railway, as in 1888 that company was
instructed to remove pig-styes from there. In 1896 the London & North
Western Railway acquired land on which to build 41 houses, which were
duly completed in 1898 as two terraces forming Grosvenor Place. Only
after remedial work was done to the approach road and the sewage
system did they meet the requirements of Carnforth U.D.C.
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There have been claims that houses in Market Street, New Street
and Carlisle Terrace were built for the railway companies, but little
evidence supports this, though the 1891 census shows that in the 46
houses in New Street there were 34 men working on the railway, whereas
in Market Street there were only three, all lodgers in the Temperance
Hotel. The two or three in Carlisle Terrace in Millhead were heavily
outnumbered by ironworkers. Canal Cottages may have been built for
canal workers and so passed into railway ownership when the London &
North Western took over ownership of the canal. Certainly it had a high
proportion of railway employees in 1891. The census for that year also
shows that by that time there were few streets that did not house railway
workers, though on the whole they tended to crowd together in certain
streets. So also did the ironworkers, though it is probable that houses
built for ironworkers might be made available to others in times of
depression in that trade. A certain hierarchy was preserved in railway
housing, though it was not rigid; thus New Street railway men were on
the whole inspectors and railway clerks while Stanley Street housed
drivers and stokers.

Welfare and the Unions

In the face of the accidents and the hard working conditions, the
railway companies showed such benevolence to the staff as was
customary at the period; reports of the annual suppers, dinners and tea
parties and so on which were laid on by the employers are common in 'the
local papers. They were probably also seen as a way of encouraging
company loyalty. Fellow workmen and the local community often
showed their support for accident victims and their families by such
methods as organising benefit concerts which might raise what were, for
the period, considerable sums. Not till 1897 did a Workn?e}l’s
Compensation Act come into force, which made employers explicitly
liable to pay compensation for injuries occurring in the normal course of
duty, including compensation to dependents in the case of fatality or
incapacity. The act did not apply universally, but railway men were
among the groups given protection. It is possible that the opening pf the
Carnforth branch of the United Kingdom Railway Temperance Union in
1883 may have done something to reduce the frequency of accidentg by
increasing sobriety, but direct attacks on dangerous working practices
and the long working hours, which caused accidents, came from
elsewhere.
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From early years there had been various bodies, such as the
Lancaster and Carlisle Railway Sick & Burial Society and the Railway
Servants’ Widows and Orphans Benevolent Society, which aimed to
support railwaymen and their families, but such trade unions as had
existed had failed to make an impact and were short-lived.

In 1872, a year in which L. N.W.R. pointsmen working a 78-hour
week had asked for a 56-hour week and more pay, the Amalgamated
Society of Railway Servants (later to become the National Union of
Railwaymen) was formed. One of its main objects was to reduce hours
of work in order, among other things, to reduce the number of accidents
to railway workers, but until the late 1880s it was a friendly society-type
union, which deplore_d strikes as an evil both to masters and men.”’ A
growing membership eventually encouraged the Union to face the
problems with a degree more militancy. In 1891 a Carnforth branch of
jche Amalgamated Society of Railway Servants was formed. Each year
its members would march, to the accompaniment of the Carnforth Brass

Band, to one of the local churches, there to listen to a sermon whose
theme we can only guess.

In 1896 there had been threats of a strike on the London & North
Wester‘n Railway, which led to the dismissal of local men, among whom
were signalman Mattocks (with more than 20 years service) and shunter
Shane of Carpforth, both of whom were members of the Amalgamated
Society of Rallway Servants*® Ata meeting of the Carnforth branch,
called to d}scuss the dismissals, Councillors Vant and Stephenson
pledged their support to the railwaymen. Even more important was the
Intervention in the dispute of Mr. Ritchie, the President of the Board of
Trade, who persuaded the London & North Western to relent.** The
sacked men were speedily reinstated. An indignation meeting was held
in the Palatine Hall in Lancaster, attended by signalman Mattocks and
two others from Carnforth, but by that time their reinstatement had
already been effected. An indirect result of the pressure put on the
Lopdon & North Western Railway by the Amalgamated Society of
Railway Servants was that the Midland Railway decided that shunters at
busy stations were to have their hours of work reduced from 60 to 48 a

week in winter, while goods guards had theirs reduced from 76 to 60 all
year round.*
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The Associated Society of Locomotive Engineers and Firemen
also had a branch in Carnforth. The Society had been founded in 1880 in
Leeds, and Carnforth was its eighth branch though apparently the union
had little influence there. Despite progress the unions were by no means
yet secure. At a meeting of the Amalgamated Society of Railway
Servants held in the Co-operative Hall in December 1898 the chief topics
of debate were continuing victimisation of members and the consequent
need to enrol new members.

The Canal

The railways were a new and most important phenomenon in
nineteenth century Warton parish, but the value of the Lancaster Canal
should not be forgotten. It had been opened in 1797 and still kept its
importance; not as in earlier years for the carriage of passengers it is true,
but for the carriage of heavy goods, in particular lime and limestone out
of the parish and coal in. The canal company saw itself as the equal of
the railway companies and there was a prolonged battle between the two
for control of the still lucrative canal. The railways proved the stronger
in the end. In 1861 the Lancaster & Carlisle Railway took over the lease
of the canal and then, in 1885, the London & North Western which had
absorbed the Lancaster & Carlisle took full possession. Thus, although
heavy goods were still carried by the canal, control had been obtained by
the railways.

The Roads

The turnpike roads, the very latest thing in speedy travel in the
late eighteenth and early nineteenth century, were not so fortunate.
Passengers were finding it quicker, cheaper and more comfortable to
travel by rail. Reports of meetings of the Turnpike Companies all give
some indication of their plight. Although the Ulverston, Milnthorpe and
Lancaster Turnpike tolls were still being offered to let in 1879, roads
were being everywhere disturnpiked (a new word to cover a new
situation). That did not mean that roads were becoming less important.
They were still needed for local travel and for local carting of goods.
Moreover they were needed for the servicing of the railways. The
railways had meant an ever increasing movement of goods, and so an
ever increasing traffic on the roads to bring the goods to the railhead.
There were reports of deterioration in the condition of the roads: in 1875
the Lancaster Guardian was reporting neglect in keeping the highway in
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proper repair at Borwick and Over Kellet. Six months later the highways
at Borwick had improved, but the sides needed to be cleaned out, which
was said to be the case in most townships. The roads in Warton township
were worn through in several places. Maintenance of these minor roads
remained the duty of the local parishes, and it was increasingly realized
that the task was beyond them. The Highways Act of 1862 had provided
for the grouping of parishes into districts, as had been done for Poor Law
and sanitary work. A further Highways Amendment Act in 1878
introduced a distinction between local roads and main roads (which
included all roads dis-turnpiked since 1870). The Districts retained all
responsibility for the former, but the County was to repay them half the
cost of maintaining the latter. The actual decision as to who did what
was less clear. The County Surveyor became a very important figure, but
there remained much that was ad hoc and tentative in the division
between the responsibilities of the County and the local authorities.

Vehicles on the road were almost without exception horse drawn.
In 1896 the first British car factory was opened in Coventry, but
motorcars really made only a negligible contribution to traffic in the
nn}]?teenth century. The first London to Brighton car race on November
14™ 1896 involved 30 cars (of which only 17 arrived safely at Brighton,
the first of them a steam car). From then on motor traffic grew fast,
thoggh the indications are that at this date it was private cars not goods
vehicles that were coming in. By 1899 Lux, a regular contributor to the
Lancaster Guardian, was writing of the ‘motor car invasion which has
captur ed our whole district of late’ and was astonished by speeds of 15 to
20 miles per hour.*' He also wrote that at Whitsun that year:

“... the [Carnforth] station had been very busy;

wagonetles and motor cars have thronged the highway,
and cyclists have been numbered by the hundreds’ .**

An entry thin the logbook of Archbishop Hutton’s School reports
that', on April 307, 1900, there were only 24 children in school, the others
having ‘gone to see a Motor car procession on its way to Edinburgh’.

Steam powered machines were in use, though as a means of
powering farm machlqery rather than as a general means of transport.
Though not really making much difference to the volume of road traffic
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their presence does seem to have necessitated special regulations. In
1893 Richard Chaplow, farmer, was charged with driving a locomotive
which did not consume its own smoke. He said that the engine had got
low and he was making up steam. He was fined 5s plus 12s costs and
told not to work near the road.* Horse-drawn vehicles were not without
their own problems. George Thistleton of Borwick, farmer and vet, was
drunk in charge of a horse on several occasions. On the third time
Superintendent Moss had locked him up overnight. He pleaded guilty
and was given a 20s fine with 9s costs.* Cases of furious riding (what a
splendid offence!) were brought before the County Police Court: Samuel
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Chapter Three

THE COMING OF THE IRON WORKS

The Carnforth Haematite (Iron) Company Ltd. was formed by a
group of Manchester businessmen, notable among them H.J Walduck, an
entrepreneur with a finger in many local pies. These men saw the
opportunity offered in Carnforth by the rail network centred there. The
railways meant that iron ore, coal and coke could be brought to an
ironworks there, limestone for flux was available locally and could be
transported by local lines easily created for the purpose, and the iron end-
product could be whisked north, south, east and west by rail. In addition
there was water available from the River Keer. The waste slag could be
dumped on the shore. The fact that the works could be registered as a
Limited Company may also have been of significance in attracting
investors. Since the Limited Liability Act of 1855 investors could only
be liable for what they themselves had invested; until that time each
investor was responsible for the debts of the whole company in the event
of failure — a considerable deterrent to the cautious.

The scheme for an ironworks was first heard of in 1861 when the
Lancaster Guardian carried a report saying that ‘There is some prospect
that iron works on an extensive scale may be established in this
locality’! 1t is characteristic of nineteenth century entrepreneurs that,
having formed the Carnforth Haematite Iron Company in 1864, they lost
no time before acting. In March 1865 the Lancaster Guardian reported
that the Carnforth site beside the Keer was a chaotic scene. ‘Here a
number of huge stones thrown anyhow in a heap ... here a steam engine
pounding away ... masons at work in one quarter, bricklayers in
another’ * In May 1865 Mrs. Barton, wife of Edward Barton who had
been appointed to oversee the work, laid the foundation stone of the
engine house chimney which was to be 210ft. high and 19ft. in diameter
at the base.
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Carnforth Iron Works

Initially the construction work must have provided employment
for many builders and labourers, and it was anticipated that the
ironworks, when completed, would give employment to 200-500 men.’
The first two furnaces were blown in in 1866, followed by a third shortly
after and pig iron was being produced by 1866." A trade directory for
1866 said that ‘ere long Carnforth may become a second Barrow.” By
1870 a fourth furnace was in use, the company employing 300 men and
producing 300-400 tons of pig iron a week.® From 1864 Mr. Edward
Barton had been Chief Engineer in charge of the construction work. By
1§66 he was general manager. He came from Carlisle and had received
his edu.cation at Croft House School in Brampton, a private school with a
reputation for including technical and scientific instruction in its
F:urrlculum. Barton went on to gain experience as an engineer in
ironworks in Middlesbrough and Workington. When he was appointed at
Carnfort.h he was still only in his early thirties. When he died in 1913 he
was chairman of the company, chairman of the water company, chairman
of the gas works, on the Police Court Bench, a Quarter Sessions
magistrate and first chairman of Carnforth Urban District Council. He
had undoubtedly been one of the most influential men in Carnforth’s
development.
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Carnforth Iron Works Blast Furnaces in Background

Housing the Work Force

Housing development for the Carnforth ironworkers took place,
as the 1871 census shows, not so much in Carnforth as just across the
River Keer in the township of Warton-with-Lindeth, in an area where
once Warton’s corn mill had stood and which was still known as
Millhead.” There were no houses on the site, though on the other side of
the Warton Road there stood an older house, Hazel Mount, where John
Jennings, formerly publican of the Black Bull in Warton, lived.

It seems probable that in the late sixties, before Millhead was
developed, workers would have taken lodgings in Carnforth or in
Warton, but that would have been after the 1861 census but before the
1871 census, and so there is no easily available record. Some houses
were built for the ironworkers along the road between Carnforth and
Warton. The row, known as Bessemer Terrace, was soon demolished
and re-erected under the same name, later to be re-named Hall Street, on
a stretch of Lancaster Road towards the south end of the village. Other
properties built in Carnforth for the ironworkers were named Pond Street,
Pond Terrace and Ramsden Street. The 1871 census shows that the
houses were being occupied, largely though not exclusively, by
employees of the Iron Works. Of the thirty-five families recorded
(presumably sometimes two families to one cottage), in fourteen of them
the head of the household was an ironworker, and a further twenty
ironworkers were recorded as sons or lodgers.
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The main housing development however was in Millhead, at first
as two rows of terrace houses, fifty-two in all, which were given the
names of Albert Street and William Street. They stood back a little from
Warton Road, running north to south on a slope towards the River Keer.

There was also a small housing development nearby on a site on
the Warton road itself known as West View. Joseph Whiles, a builder
and bricklayer, lived there in a household of eight people among whom

were two bricklayers and a bricklayer’s apprentice. Next-door was the
house of John Lithgow, a plasterer.

Also in West View lived Joseph Jackson, a quarrymaster, and a
man of some substance since he was recorded as employing twenty-nine
men. In addition thére was a beer house, the West View Hotel, built and
owned by Robert Clarkson. A beer house must have been convenient for
the Iron Works, a hot and thirsty trade, but it was apparently viewed with
do'ut'Jt by the magistrates. A full licence allowing the West View to serve
spirit was refused in 1873 and it was soon after put up for sale by
Clarkson.” In 1874 the West View licence was again refused. This did
not mean that beer could not be served since no licence was required for
that.‘ In 1875 Isaac Robinson of the West View Hotel was fined for
serving drink after hours. As far as is known it settled down after that.
In 1894 it seems the proprietrix was also making money as a small

farmer; at any rate an advertisement appeared saying that Mrs. Wilson of

the West View Hotel had two sow pigs for sale as well as other animals,
implements and potatoes.’

The building of the Tron Works and of the houses in Millhead
would plainly have provided much subsidiary employment. There was,

howgver, a downside to this boost to the area. Such large-scale work in a
previously rural area led to difficulties.

In 1866, William Redhead, surveyor of roads, had been called up
before the magistrates on account of the bad state of the roads. Between
Jackson’s quarry and the Iron Works, the traffic was so heavy that repairs
had cost £50 already; in previous years the cost had been in the region of
£4 - £5. Accidents were occurring daily. The surveyor was short of
labour to carry out the repairs. Jackson offered to supply materials for
road repair and Redhead to carry them out as soon as possible.'® All the
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same, in mid-November, the paper reported that ‘... William Redhead
had again been summoned to the court at the Judges’ Lodgings; roads
had not been repaired as promised’. The need for a report with the facts
of the weight of transport between Jackson’s quarry and the Iron Works
was considered and a new agreement seems to have been reached."’

Population Change

This expansion in the population of the township of Warton-with-
Lindeth occurred very suddenly in the second half of the 1860s. The
population rose from 581 in 1861 to 1,035 in 1871. The rise was almost
entirely due to the incomers at Millhead; the population of the rest of the
township — that is of Warton-with-Lindeth without Millhead — had risen
only very slightly. The two figures below show that between 1861 and
1871 there had also been a very clear change in the distribution of age
groups over the decade. However for 1871 (figure 3.2) the age
distribution is shown separately for Millhead and for the rest of Warton.
It can then be seen that it was the incoming population in Millhead that
had caused the change. The age pattern in the rest of Warton was much
as it had been in 1861. In Millhead 40% of the total were nine years old
or under. This, taken together with the wide band of those 20 to 29 years
old, certainly seems to indicate (as might have been expected) that those
who had left their homes t